THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000948

Robert Harbuck,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.
Price Benowitz LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Suite D
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
Janell H. Gregory
Assistant Attorney General
1000 Assembly Street, Room 519
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 734-3970
Attorney for Respondent

RECEIVED

OCT 18 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR Court violate the separation of powers doctrine by adopting the State's proposed order of dismissal when this independent judicial function cannot be delegated to an executive agency without providing specific rationale for denying each claim and for omitting relevant testimony, findings of fact, and conclusions of law?

- II. Did the PCR Court err by finding in the Order of Dismissal that Dr. Nicholas Batalis's opinion on whether the collision could have caused great bodily injury is outside the scope of his expertise when the PCR Court properly overruled the State's objection and allowed this expert testimony at the PCR hearing?

- III. Did the PCR court err in finding Trial Counsel provided effective assistance of counsel when Trial Counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation and to develop all available, relevant, and admissible or mitigating evidence in preparation for trial by not consulting expert witnesses to review Petitioner's mental health records and Officer Lindler's medical records based on the expert testimony presented at the PCR hearing?

- IV. Did the PCR Court err in finding Trial Counsel provided effective assistance of counsel when Trial Counsel had an objectively unreasonable trial strategy and failed to subject the Prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Arrest Warrants / Indictments

On September 6, 2015, the Laurens County Sheriff's Office arrested Petitioner Robert Clinton Harbuck for four counts of attempted murder, assault on an officer while resisting arrest, and failure to stop for a blue light. (App. 639 – 644). The Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for the above-referenced charges on October 30, 2015. (App. 627 – 638).

Trial

On August 24, 2016, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker and a jury. (App. 1 – 334). Thomas Quinn represented Petitioner, and Assistant Solicitors Dale Scott and Jim Todd prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury returned guilty verdicts for the lesser included offenses of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) and three counts of assault and battery in the third degree (AB3D), resisting arrest (RA), and failure to stop for a blue light (FTSBL). (App. 318, line 19 – 319, line 19). The Trial Court sentenced Petitioner to nine (9) years imprisonment for the ABHAN conviction, three (3) years imprisonment for the FTSBL conviction, one (1) year imprisonment for the RA conviction, and thirty (30) days imprisonment for each of the AB3D convictions. (App. 331, line 15 – 333, line 10). The Trial Court imposed the service of those sentences concurrently.

Direct Appeal

Petitioner did not appeal his conviction or sentence.

PCR Application and Allegations

On August 7, 2017, Petitioner filed his application requesting Post-Conviction Relief (PCR). (App. 335 – 344). The State filed its Return to the PCR application on December 18, 2017. (App. 345 – 351).

On June 14, 2018, Petitioner filed an amended PCR application. (App. 352 – 362). The State filed its amended Return on September 21, 2018. (App. 363 – 371). Applicant ultimately raised the following allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel in his PCR applications and without objection at the hearing:

- (A) Trial Counsel denied Applicant's right to effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution. *See* S.C. Code § 17-27-20(A)(1), (4), and (6). Trial Counsel's unreasonably deficient performance prejudiced Applicant because there is a reasonable probability that, but for Trial Counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Specifically, Trial Counsel's acts or omissions included, but not are not limited to the following allegations:
- (1) Trial Counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation and to develop all available, relevant, and admissible or mitigating evidence in preparation for trial. *See Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510 (2003). Specifically, Trial Counsel failed to obtain and review all of Applicant's psychiatric and mental health counseling records. Trial Counsel further failed to consult with an expert witness for an independent review of Applicant's mental health records in preparation for trial.
 - (2) Trial Counsel failed to call an expert witness to testify at trial regarding Applicant's diagnosis of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and history of mental health treatment when it was reasonable and necessary to present this evidence based on Trial Counsel's unreasonable trial strategy.
 - (3) Trial Counsel failed to call an expert witness during the mitigation phase of the sentencing hearing to testify regarding Applicant's diagnosis of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and history of mental health treatment when it was reasonable and necessary to present this evidence.
 - (4) Trial Counsel failed to hire an expert witness to conduct an independent review of Corporal Steven Lindler's medical records to determine whether those injuries met the definition of "Great Bodily Injury", or whether the act that caused those injuries was likely to produce "Great Bodily Injury" to satisfy that element of Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature when it was reasonable and necessary in preparation of trial.
 - (5) Trial Counsel failed to call an expert witness at trial to testify in rebuttal of the State's argument that Applicant was guilty of Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature because Corporal Steven Lindler's injuries did not meet the definition of "Great Bodily Injury" when it was reasonable and necessary to present this evidence.

- (6) Trial Counsel failed to preserve for appellate review his motion for a mistrial by not obtaining a final ruling after his objection to the Trial Court's curative instruction regarding Corporal Steven Lindler's testimony of medical injuries that were not disclosed by the State
- (7) Trial Counsel failed to object to the Trial Court's curative instruction and move for a mistrial after the Solicitor told the jury in the State's closing argument that the jury could infer malice from Applicant's use of his vehicle as a deadly weapon.
- (8) Trial Counsel failed to object to the Solicitor's improper comments during closing argument and failed to move for a curative instruction and/or mistrial based on the undue prejudice created by those comments. Specifically, the Solicitor made numerous disparaging comments attacking Trial Counsel's credibility. The Solicitor also argued facts that were not in evidence. The Solicitor repeatedly argued that Applicant was on drugs despite that there was no corroborating evidence presented at trial.
- (9) Trial Counsel failed to file a Motion for Reconsideration based on the critical mitigation evidence not presented to the Trial Court during the sentencing phase. Specifically, Trial Counsel failed to present all reasonable and necessary evidence to the judge during the sentencing phase in mitigation of Applicant's potential sentence.
- (10) Trial Counsel failed to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing by not adequately preparing for trial and having an unreasonable trial strategy. *See United States v. Cronin*, 466 U.S. 648 (1984).

PCR Evidentiary Hearing

On March 1, 2019, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Brian Gibbons for an evidentiary hearing on the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. (App. 372 – 466). Dayne Phillips represented Petitioner, and Assistant Attorney General Janell Gregory represented the State. The following witnesses testified at the evidentiary hearing: Dr. Nicholas Batalis, Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox, Petitioner, and Trial Counsel.

Dr. Nicholas Batalis's Expert Testimony

Dr. Nicholas Batalis testified as to his education, training, experience, and publications as a Board-Certified Forensic Pathologist and Professor in the department of pathology and laboratory medicine at the Medical University of South Carolina. (App. 380, line 20 – 383, line 11). The PCR Court admitted Dr. Batalis's curriculum vitae into evidence without objection as

Applicant's exhibit number one. (App. 384, lines 5-13; App. 467 – 481). Dr. Batalis further testified that he had been qualified as an expert witness in forensic pathology "somewhere between 50 and 75 times." (App. 384, lines 14-18). PCR Counsel then moved to qualify Dr. Batalis as an expert in forensic pathology. (App. 385, lines 4-5).

During *voir dire* by the Respondent, Dr. Batalis acknowledged that he does not have training or experience in accident reconstruction or estimating the speed of vehicles. (App. 385, lines 11-23). The PCR Court qualified Dr. Batalis as an expert in forensic pathology without objection. (App. 386, lines 1-6).

On direct-examination, Dr. Batalis testified that he had completed "around 300 performed autopsies or reviewed records on individuals who have died in . . . motor vehicle accidents." (App. 386, line 23 – 387, line 3). Dr. Batalis also testified that he has received and reviewed "full accident reports" when performing an autopsy on a traffic related fatality. (App. 387, lines 4-12). Dr. Batalis further testified that, as a forensic pathologist, he determines cause and manner of death by "identify[ing] all injuries possible and then look to identify the injuries considered most severe that led to the death." (App. 387, lines 13-22).

Dr. Batalis then explained that he reviewed Officer Lindler's dashboard camera video recording from September 6, 2016; Officer Steven Lindler's medical records; the relevant portions of Applicant's trial transcript; and Section 16-3-600 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. (App. 388, line 8 – 390, line 25; App. 392, line 8 – 394, line 11). The PCR Court admitted the disc containing the video recording and paper medical records into evidence without objection as Applicant's exhibit numbers two and three. (App. 392, lines 8-14; App. 482 – 493). The PCR Court also took judicial notice of S.C. Code Section 16-3-600 as Applicant's exhibit number four. (App. 394, lines 12-21).

Dr. Batalis confirmed PCR Counsel had retained him to review and “compare the injuries that were discussed in the medical records of Officer Steven Lindler”, the video recording, and testimony presented during Petitioner’s trial with the “definition of great bodily injury”. (App. 394, lines 4-11). Dr. Batalis noted Officer Lindler’s injuries as “acute traumatic lumbar back strain” and “two probable compression fractures that were thought to be chronic.” (App. 394, line 22 – 385, line 2). Dr. Batalis also testified, “in reviewing the [great bodily injury definition] statute those [injuries] did not seem to be - - fall in line with what I would consider great bodily injury.” (App. 395, lines 4-6). Dr. Batalis further noted that possible chronic compression fractures are “something that’s been more longstanding and not anything that happened within those last couple of hours” as “[t]hat would be more considered an acute fracture.” (App. 395, ll. 7-17).

In his expert opinion, Dr. Batalis testified that he did not believe Officer Linder’s injuries met the definition of great bodily injury as defined by the South Carolina Code of Laws. (App. 395, line 25 – 396, line 7). Specifically, Dr. Batalis further explained:

[E]ssentially what the physicians that night or the examining officer could say definitively what happened as a result of the accident was a muscle strain of the back.

Again, there were the fractures that were thought to be more likely chronic or occurred previously. So, essentially, **he had back pain or a strain of the back muscle which would not fit in with the definition of . . . permanent disfigurement, impairment of function of the body or an organ.**

(App. 396, line 8-19) (emphasis added). The PCR Court interjected after the Respondent’s objection regarding the scope of expertise, “**Doctor, what is your opinion on whether or not this was a great bodily injury?**” Dr. Batalis replied, “**I don’t believe the injuries [Officer Lindler] suffered were great bodily injury.**” (App. 398, lines 20-23) (emphasis added).

Dr. Batalis continued, “I believe also asking about the - - if the collision would likely to cause great bodily injury”, and the Respondent objected. (App. 398, line 24 – 399, line 399). The Court interjected again and asked, “**Is that based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty?**”, and Dr. Batalis responded, “**Yes**”. (App. 399, lines 2-5) (emphasis added). The PCR Court then stated, “All right. Thank you. **Objection noted; objection overruled.**” (App. 399, lines 6-7) (emphasis added). Dr. Batalis also testified that, if peer reviewed, he believed the medical community would agree with his opinion. (App. 399, lines 9-12).

The Respondent objected to PCR Counsel’s questions regarding the probability of the act causing great bodily injury or death. (App. 399, line 19 – 400, line 7). PCR Counsel argued in rebuttal:

The [Petitioner’s] argument is because [Dr. Batalis has] reviewed that many motor vehicle accidents - - earlier we went through his testimony. As a forensic pathologist it was hundreds [of autopsies], and in looking at the specific injuries and looking at the MAIT reports, he ultimately - - the state has allowed him to make a determination about cause and manner of death based on injuries. Because of that we believe that allows - - that opens the scope that he can make a determination on what type of injuries would ultimately lead to cause and manner of death.

(App. 400, lines 10-19). The PCR Court responded, “**All right. I agree with you, Mr. Phillips. I’m going to overrule the state’s objection . . . I’m going to let it in.**” (App. 400, lines 20-25) (emphasis added).

On cross-examination, Dr. Batalis acknowledged that he does not know the speed of the vehicle before the crash, he did not review photographs of skid-marks or the vehicles, and he did not personally examine Officer Linder. (App. 401, line 19 – 402, line 16). However, Dr. Batalis testified that he did not believe his determination warranted a personal examination due to the medical records and that he has testified as an expert in cases where he performed the autopsy

and has been a consultant for the prosecution, defense, and civil litigation cases. (App. 402, line 15 – 403, line 8).

Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox's Expert Testimony

The PCR Court immediately qualified Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox as an expert in forensic psychiatry without objection. (App. 404, line 10 – 405, line 12). Dr. Maddox's curriculum vitae was marked as Applicant's exhibit number five. (App. 404, line 24 – 405, line 18; App. 497 – 506). The PCR Court also admitted Dr. Maddox's report into evidence without objection as Applicant's exhibit number six. (App. 406, lines 6-21; App. 507 – 511). Dr. Maddox testified that she reviewed Petitioner's mental health records, examined him, and prepared a report with her findings. (App. 405, line 20 – 406, line 2).

Dr. Maddox testified that she diagnosed Petitioner with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), noting his military service of "two tours in Afghanistan". (App. 407, lines 12-17). Specifically, Dr. Maddox noted Petitioner's "exposure to trauma and life-threatening injuries" and provided specific events Petitioner experienced during combat service. (App. 407, lines 18-25). Dr. Maddox further testified that, in addition to Petitioner's PTSD diagnosis, he also has gender identity disorder. (App. 408, lines 7-10).

Dr. Maddox testified that Petitioner had experienced marital and substance abuse problems. (App. 408, line 19 – 409, lines 5). Dr. Maddox testified that Petitioner was addicted to methamphetamine, was intoxicated, and psychotic at the time of the offense. (App. 409, lines 6-15). Dr. Maddox explained Petitioner's mental health status during the incident:

[Petitioner] believed he had been followed . . . He had gone three days without sleep. He thought the people in the apartment complex were trying to kill him. He even called his mother during this period of time telling her that he was in fear for his life . . . He drove 100 miles per hour because he thought someone was shooting at him . . . He stated while he was being pulled he heard

voices telling him this is a government training exercise, ram the vehicle in front of you . . . So, unfortunately, even though he was psychotic - - and it's my opinion that the substance abuse he had is commonly seen in persons with P.T.S.D., that he was - - he was mentally ill at the time of the offense. **And in my opinion this information should have been considered as part of his sentencing.**

(App. 409, line 19 – 410, line 17) (emphasis added). Dr. Maddox testified that this information should have been presented to the Trial Court as mitigation evidence during the sentencing hearing. (App. 411, lines 2-19).

On cross-examination, Dr. Maddox acknowledged that she met with Petitioner one time and it was an “adequate time to perform [her] evaluation.” (App. 417, lines 17-24). Dr. Maddox also acknowledged that Petitioner was voluntarily intoxicated at the time of the incident.

Petitioner's Testimony

Petitioner testified that he discussed his military service and mental health history with Trial Counsel on multiple occasions. (App. 419, lines 9-17). Specifically, Petitioner testified, “I disclosed the history of the deployments and also the gender identity thing.” (App. 420, lines 4-7). Applicant also testified that Trial Counsel never discussed hiring an expert witness to conduct an independent review of any evidence (i.e., mental health records or the alleged injuries of the complaining witnesses), to testify at his trial in rebuttal of the State's evidence, or to present mitigation evidence at sentencing. (App. 422, lines 1-19).

On cross-examination, Petitioner acknowledged that his testimony regarding intoxication at trial contradicts his statements to Dr. Maddox. (App. 423, lines 7-15).

Trial Counsel Thomas Quinn's Testimony

Trial Counsel maintained that in preparation for trial, “I reviewed the evidence, spoke with my client . . . rode the scene . . . That was pretty much the investigation.” (App. 430, lines

7-11). Trial Counsel admitted that he discussed the mental health issues with Petitioner and that he did not obtain Petitioner's psychiatric records. (App. 430, lines 15-25). Trial Counsel claimed Petitioner never informed him of being intoxicated at the time of the incident. (App. 431, lines 14-16). However, Trial Counsel admitted that Petitioner may have told him that he was "tripping" during the incident. (App. 434, lines 5-7).

Trial Counsel also explained his trial strategy: "To try to prove, to convince the jury, that [Petitioner] was unable to form the intent necessary to commit the offenses." (App. 431, lines 17-19). Trial Counsel stated that Dr. Maddox's report would not have been helpful because it contradicts Petitioner's trial testimony, but admitted, "the diagnosis of P.T.S.D may have been helpful." (App. 433, lines 2-6). Trial Counsel further noted that Dr. Maddox's report would have "eliminated the trial strategy . . . So we would have had to have chosen a different trial strategy." (App. 433, lines 7-16).

Trial Counsel maintained that hiring an expert to review Officer Lindler's injuries was not necessary because the Trial Court submitted the lesser-included offenses to the jury. (App. 435, line 19 – 436, line 4). Trial Counsel noted his objections to testimony and the State's closing argument. (App. 436, line 5 – 438, line 21). Trial Counsel then explained the mitigation evidence he presented during the sentencing phase. (App. 440, line 21 – 441, line 22). Trial Counsel also admitted that he failed to file a Motion for Reconsideration of Petitioner's sentence. (App. 443, lines 7-11).

On cross-examination, Trial Counsel admitted that he never discussed consulting an expert to review Officer Lindler's injuries and that his trial strategy was Petitioner did not have the specific intent to kill. (App. 444, line 10 – 445, line 22). Trial Counsel later admitted, "It would have been helpful perhaps to have had an expert testify as to that [the injuries]." (App.

446, lines 8-13). Trial Counsel also specifically agreed that it would have been helpful for the jury's determination for an expert witness to have testified that Officer Lindler's injuries did not satisfy the definition of great bodily injury. (App. 446, lines 4 – 448, line 2).

Trial Counsel admitted that he never discussed consulting an expert in forensic psychiatry with Petitioner. (App. 448, lines 3-5). Trial Counsel also admitted that, had he obtained all the mental health records, he would have a better understanding of Petitioner's mental health history and might have changed his opinion on whether to consult an expert. (App. 448, line 6 – 449, line 14).

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