STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
CERTIORARI TO LAURENS COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Donald B. Hocker, Trial Judge
—————

Appellate Case No. 2019-000948
—————

ROBERT HARBUCK,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.
—————

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JANELL H. GREGORY
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 103176

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 26 2020
S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

Petitioner: And so as an expert in forensic pathology is it your opinion that those actions would likely not produce death?

State: Objection, Your Honor. This is beyond his expertise.

Court: Sustained. Let me rephrase. Doctor, what is your opinion on whether or not this was a great bodily injury?

Batalis: I don't believe the injuries suffered were great bodily injury. I believe also asking about the - - if the collision would likely to cause great bodily injury - -

State: That's the objection Your Honor.

Court: All right. Hang on a second. Is that based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty?

Batalis: Yes.

Court: All right. Thank you. Objection noted and overruled.

(App. 398-399.) During that exchange, Batalis did not offer an opinion regarding whether the

⁴ During voir dire of Batalis, he testified he did not have any experience or training in accident reconstruction or estimating the speed of vehicles. (App. 385.)

collision would likely cause great bodily injury. The only opinion he offered to a degree of medical certainty was that Lindler did not suffer great bodily injury, which was within the scope of his expertise. As Batalis's direct-examination continued, Petitioner attempted to elicit testimony from Batalis regarding the findings in his report, and the State promptly objected as that portion of the report provided an opinion that was outside of Batalis's expertise. (App. 399.) The post-conviction relief court heard argument from both sides and following the argument the court stated, "All right. I agree with you, Mr. Phillips. I'm going to overrule the State's objection. You know, the beauty of the nonjury proceeding is that, you know, I'm standing both as fact-finder and as the judge of the law. So I can - - you know, I'm going to let it in. And of course I'll give it the credibility I believe it deserves. Okay." (App. 400-401.)

On cross-examination, the State was able to elicit testimony that Batalis did not know the rate of speed Petitioner's vehicle was traveling at the time he rammed Lindler's vehicle, nor did he review any crime scene photos of the vehicle damage or skid marks created by Petitioner's vehicle prior to impact. (App. 402.) Batalis also testified on cross-examination that he was not familiar with the mounts for in-dash video cameras inside police vehicles, nor the amount of force it would take to dislodge such mounts. (App. 402.) The State provided argument in its post-hearing brief that based on Batalis's lack of training and experience in accident reconstruction the testimony offered by Batalis stating the impact of the collision could not have caused great bodily injury was outside of his expertise as his knowledge, training, and experience does not afford him the capability of making that determination based on the information he was provided.

Based on the comment the post-conviction relief court made when overruling the State's objection, shows the intent of the court to give Batalis's testimony the "credibility it deserves,"

and was reserving judgment on the weight that the post-conviction relief court would afford Batalis's opinion. Ultimately, the post-conviction relief court found Batalis's testimony that the collision could not have caused great bodily injury was outside the scope of his expertise. The post-conviction relief court was well within its authority to make such a finding in its final order of dismissal despite overruling the State's object during the evidentiary hearing. This Court should deny certiorari.

III. The post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective for failing to conduct a reasonable investigation in Petitioner's case.

Petitioner alleges the post-conviction relief court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective for failing to obtain Petitioner's mental health records and Lindler's medical records in his investigation, and presenting that information at trial or in mitigation on Petitioner's behalf. However, as the post-conviction relief court properly found, Counsel did obtain and present mitigation consistent with the story Petitioner provided to Counsel. Further, Petitioner could not have utilized his own mental health expert, Dr. Maddox (Maddox), that he presented at the evidentiary hearing because Petitioner told Maddox a completely different story than what he told Counsel and the jury at trial. The post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective as to this allegation as Counsel presented the relevant mitigation to the trial court regarding Petitioner's mental health prior to sentencing. Further, prior to pronouncing the sentence, the trial court expressed it had taken Petitioner's PTSD into account in determining the appropriate sentence in Petitioner's case. Petitioner failed to meet his burden set forth in Strickland and the post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective as to this allegation. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari.

“[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which at a minimum includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation

of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Walker v. State, 397 S.C. 226, 235, 723 S.E.2d 610, 615 (Ct. App. 2012) (reversed on other grounds by Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014)). In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel’s judgments.” Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003). Failure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, especially when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to result. Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 385-86, 629 S.E.2d 353, 357 (2006) (citing Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998)); see also Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496, 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538, 540 (1995) (holding a PCR applicant must produce the witnesses at the PCR hearing or otherwise introduce the witnesses’ testimony in a manner consistent with the rules of evidence in order to prove counsel was ineffective for failing to call a witness.).

a. Counsel did investigate Petitioner’s case based on the facts provided to him by Petitioner, which were entirely fabricated based on Petitioner’s own testimony at the evidentiary hearing; further, Counsel presented mitigation to the trial court regarding Petitioner’s mental health, and the trial court expressly stated it considered Petitioner’s mental health issues in determining Petitioner’s sentence.

Petitioner alleges Counsel was ineffective in his investigation of Petitioner’s mental health. However, Maddox’s report and testimony shows Petitioner’s story to Counsel and the jury was entirely untruthful. Counsel even testified Maddox’s report would not have been helpful to Petitioner at trial. (App. 433.) “The reasonableness of counsel’s actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant’s own statements or actions. Counsel’s actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691(emphasis added). Here, Petitioner maintained to Counsel and the jury that he had only ingested a Red Bull and

cigarettes prior to the incident. (App. 205, 207.) Petitioner denied the incident was drug induced and testified he had not used illegal drugs on the day of the incident, or the night before the incident. (App. 201.) However, Petitioner testified during the evidentiary hearing that he was on “a lot” of methamphetamine and had been up for three days prior to the incident. (App. 414, 425.) According to Maddox’s report, Petitioner was using three grams of methamphetamine per day and was intoxicated at the time of the incident. (App. 409.)

Further, Petitioner cannot show any resulting prejudice from any alleged deficiency as Counsel investigated the case and developed his trial strategy based on the story Petitioner told him, which was a lie. Had Counsel sought the assistance of Maddox prior to trial, it is unclear what version of the story Petitioner would have provided to her since he was insistent at trial that he was not intoxicated and not under the influence of illegal drugs. As Maddox testified, the majority of her report was based on the narrative Petitioner gave her, and she had no way of substantiating his claims through military records. (App. 416-417.) Based on Petitioner’s propensity to be untruthful, even under oath, Petitioner cannot show this Court the information he would have provided Maddox in preparation for his trial would have been consistent with the story he provided her in preparation for his post-conviction relief hearing.

Notwithstanding Petitioner’s untruthfulness, Counsel did obtain information on Petitioner’s PTSD diagnosis and treatment and presented it to the trial court. Counsel testified the judge was aware of Petitioner’s PTSD and Counsel testified he also provided information from the Department of Veteran Affairs and letter from a U.S. Army Major Schofield on Petitioner’s behalf. During sentencing, the trial judge stated, “I am taking into account to some extent the fact that you are currently being treated for PTSD.” (App. 331.) Later, the trial judge stated,

You know, if you had been in and out of the criminal justice system and then convicted of this particular offense, I don't think there's any question I'd give you the max, which is 20 years. I'm not going to do that, because I have given some benefit, some weight to the mitigation that's been presented in this case.

(App. 332.)

Despite Petitioner's mental health issues, the trial judge was clearly disturbed by Petitioner's actions towards Lindler, and, had mitigation been provided consistent with Maddox's report showing Petitioner was voluntarily intoxicated during the incident, the trial court likely would have increased Petitioner's sentence. Since Petitioner was able to maintain during the trial that he was not intoxicated, he was able to receive the benefit of Counsel's mitigation for his PTSD while denying his voluntary intoxication. As Counsel testified, "I don't believe . . . most judges would think being on a methamphetamine binge would be helpful for sentencing." (App. 459.)

Petitioner has failed to show this Court how Counsel was ineffective as the mitigation provided to the trial court was the most favorable mitigation Petitioner could receive while maintaining his claim that he was not intoxicated at the time of the incident. Petitioner has failed to show how the results of his trial would have been different had Counsel presented Maddox at trial. As Counsel testified, Petitioner would have been more likely to have been convicted of attempted murder if he utilized Maddox's report as it would have taken the intent issue away and he believes intent is what caused the jury to reduce the charges against Petitioner. (App. 457.) Therefore, the post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective as to this allegation. This Court should deny certiorari.

b. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to obtain Lindler's medical records or calling an expert to testify regarding his injuries because Lindler's injuries were not material to Petitioner's charges; further, Counsel objected and moved for a mistrial when the State elicited testimony regarding

Lindler's injuries, which ultimately led the trial court to instruct the jury to disregard the testimony of Lindler's injuries.

Petitioner alleges the post-conviction relief court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective for failing to obtain Lindler's medical records and calling an expert to testify regarding Lindler's injuries, and in support of this allegation, Petitioner presented testimony from Batalis at the evidentiary hearing. However, after hearing Batalis's testimony, Counsel testified he would not have used an expert like Batalis at trial because Batalis was not prepared to discuss moderate bodily injury and his testimony would have left Petitioner in a position to still be found guilty. (App. 456.) Further, Counsel testified Batalis's report would not have been admitted at trial because it was speculative and would have infringed on the jury's province. (App. 455.) Moreover, Counsel objected to Lindler's testimony regarding his injuries, and the trial court provided a curative instruction to the jury that Lindler's injuries were not to be considered. (App. 98.) Based on the foregoing, post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective as to this allegation. This Court should deny certiorari.

Petitioner alleges, Counsel's performance was so deficient it prejudiced Petitioner because it "so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced just result." Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692). However, as discussed in the previous section, some of Batalis's testimony was outside the scope of his expertise and, as Counsel testified, he would not have used Batalis's report at trial. (App. 456.) Counsel testified he does not believe Batalis's report would have been admissible, nor impacted the outcome of Petitioner's trial. (App. 443.) Counsel testified he believes most reasonable jurors could reasonably find great bodily injury would have occurred from Petitioner ramming his vehicle into Lindler's vehicle. (App. 456.) Further, Counsel testified he objected to Lindler's testimony about his injuries, which led to an in

camera review of Lindler's testimony regarding his injuries by the trial court. At the conclusion of that hearing, the trial court provided a curative instruction to the jury that they should not consider Lindler's injuries. (App. 98, 436.)

Based on Counsel's assessment of Batalis's testimony at the post-conviction relief hearing, and the information provided to the jury at trial, Counsel acted reasonably in preparing for Petitioner's trial. As Counsel testified, an expert was unnecessary in this capacity because the judge instructed the jury on all of the lesser included offenses and the definitions for moderate bodily injury and great bodily injury. (App. 435.) Further, the jury was instructed not to consider Lindler's injuries in deliberation, so an expert opinion on the matter would have highlighted the injuries and, as Counsel testified, a reasonable juror could believe the collision caused by Petitioner could have resulted in serious bodily injury. As such, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden to show any deficiency on behalf of Counsel or any resulting prejudice as required under Strickland. Therefore, this Court should deny certiorari.

IV. The post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective for failing to have a valid trial strategy as Counsel's testimony shows he did have a valid trial strategy which he developed based on Petitioner's claim that Petitioner had only ingested a Red Bull and cigarettes on the date of the incident, however, that claim was entirely false as Petitioner admitted during the evidentiary hearing and to Dr. Maddox that he was on "a lot" of methamphetamine at the time of the incident; further, Petitioner benefited from Counsel's trial strategy as Petitioner was able to keep his voluntary intoxication from consideration by the jury and trial court.

Petitioner's claim that the post-conviction relief court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective for having an unreasonable trial strategy is meritless. During the post-conviction relief hearing, Counsel testified that his trial strategy was based on the story Petitioner provided him which ultimately was not true. Counsel testified the experts presented by Petitioner at the evidentiary hearing would not have been helpful to Petitioner's case and he would not have been able to use them at trial. Petitioner's claim that the outcome of his trial would have been different

had Counsel used experts is speculative and not supported by the credible testimony of Counsel at the evidentiary hearing. The post-conviction relief court properly found Counsel was not ineffective in developing a trial strategy in Petitioner's case and properly denied and dismissed this allegation. This Court should deny certiorari.

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